ICA EFiled: Oct 25 2023

05:16PM EDT

Transaction ID 71193542

IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

AMY REYNOLDS, as Next Friend and Legal Guardian of M.R., a minor, SHAUN and JENNIFER LOPEZ, individually, and as Next Friends and Legal Guardians of S.L., G.L., AND J.L., minors, and KEITH and MELISSA CHAPMAN, individually, and as Next Friends and Legal Guardians of H.C., a minor,

Plaintiffs Below, Petitioners,

V.

ERIE INSURANCE and HORACE MANN INSURANCE COMPANY, Defendants Below, Respondents

From the Circuit Court of Kanawha County, West Virginia
The Honorable Joanna Tabit
Civil Action No. 21-C-827

PETITIONERS' BRIEF

ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 1: THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY APPLYING THE WRONG POLICY DEFINITION OF AN UNDERINSURED MOTOR VEHICLE.

The Erie Insurance ("Erie") policy at issue contained separate definitions of a "motor vehicle" and an "underinsured motor vehicle." Erie itself created a policy ambiguity by asking the Circuit Court to look to the definition of "motor vehicle" under the "GENERAL DEFINITIONS"/liability portion of the policy rather than solely applying the controlling definition of an "underinsured motor vehicle" contained within the underinsured motorist ("UIM") Endorsement. The Circuit Court erred by applying the first of those policy definitions, which does not relate to this claim.

The Circuit Court's ruling contravened black letter holdings: "But where the policy's terms are found to be ambiguous, the ambiguities are strictly construed against the insurance company and all doubts are resolved in favor of coverage." Syl. Pt. 3, Murray v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 203 W.Va. 477, 509 S.E.2d 1 (1998). "It is well settled law in West Virginia that ambiguous terms in insurance contracts are to be strictly construed against the insurance company and in favor of the insured." Syl. Pt. 4, Nat'l. Mut. Ins. Co. v. McMahon & Sons, Inc., 177 W.Va. 734, 356 S.E.2d 488 (1987).

While Erie's own argument created a policy conflict, the sole language that should have been applied, contained within the UIM endorsement, was itself clear and unambiguous. "Where the provisions of an insurance policy contract are clear and unambiguous they are not subject to judicial construction or interpretation, but full effect will be given to the plain meaning intended." Syl. Pt. 7, Certain Underwriters v. Pinnoak Resources, 223 W.Va. 336, 674 S.E.2d 197 (2008)(per curiam); Syl., Keffer v. Prudential Ins. Co., 153 W.Va. 813, 172 S.E.2d 714 (1970); Syl. Pt. 2, West Virginia Fire & Casualty Co. v. Stanley, 216 W.Va. 40, 602 S.E.2d 483 (2004).

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 2: THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN ITS ANALYSIS OF DISTINGUISHABLE PRECEDENT.

The Circuit Court ignored the factual distinctions within <u>Boniey v. Kuchinski</u>, 223 W.Va. 486, 677 S.E.2d 922 (2009), which involved the *off-road* use of an all-terrain vehicle ("ATV") in an uninsured motorist claim for which no UIM Endorsement was at issue. In that case the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia ("Supreme Court") found that no coverage existed when an ATV did not meet the definition of an uninsured motor vehicle under the relevant policy provisions. However, that case involved the use of a vehicle designed mainly for use off-of public roads and a crash that also occurred off of public roads. The Circuit Court below disregarded the fact that the crash in this case occurred *on a public road* and that the relevant UIM Endorsement solely defined an "underinsured motor vehicle" with no corresponding exclusion. Regardless of the type of vehicle (ATV, UTV or otherwise), Erie's policy language expressly covers UIM claims that arise *on public roads*

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from the Circuit Court of Kanawha County's grant of summary judgment to Erie Insurance Company ("Erie"). The Circuit Court erred by misapplying Erie's policy language in addition to misapplying precedent. This Court should reverse the Circuit Court and enter an Order finding coverage consistent with Petitioners' position below. Otherwise, affirming the Circuit Court will create a legally absurd result in contravention of existing authority.

Petitioners are the parents of children who were injured in a November 2, 2019 motor vehicle crash while they were participating in a Veteran's Day parade in St. Albans, West Virginia. Appendix Record or AR at 21. It is undisputed that the crash occurred in the City of St. Albans, on the public roads of that municipality. Petitioners' children were passengers in a trailer that was being pulled behind a motor vehicle owned and operated by Greg Cox. Mr. Cox's truck was

insured by Erie. AR at 46. Petitioners are the parents of those children and include first party bystanders who saw the crash occur.¹

The crash occurred after a utility terrain vehicle ("UTV") owned and operated by John Kidd drove into the back of the trailer towed behind Mr. Cox's Erie insured vehicle. AR at 21. Mr. Kidd's UTV drove up onto the back of the trailer, injuring multiple small children who were parade participants. <u>Id</u>.

Petitioners eventually reached a settlement with Mr. Kidd's liability insurer, Foremost Insurance Company ("Foremost"). The Foremost policy provided liability protection, but the amount of liability limits was insufficient to compensate all of the injured parties involved in the crash. AR at 35. Petitioners thereafter made a claim for UIM benefits under Mr. Cox's Erie policy, since they were lawful passengers of his vehicle. It is undisputed that this would otherwise be a valid UIM claim but for Erie's purported exclusionary language.

Erie denied coverage for the Petitioners' UIM claims by alleging that Mr. Kidd's UTV did not qualify as a "motor vehicle" under Mr. Cox's Erie policy. Petitioners thereafter filed suit seeking a declaratory judgment affirming coverage. AR at 132. Throughout the underlying litigation Erie continued to deny coverage and filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on February 24, 2023. Id.

On June 12, 2023 the parties appeared at hearing before the Circuit Court of Kanawha County pursuant to Erie's Motion for Summary Judgment. AR at 114. During that hearing the Circuit Court ruled in Erie's favor by finding that Mr. Kidd's UTV did not meet the definition of a motor vehicle under Mr. Cox's policy. The Circuit Court further ruled that coverage was excluded under West Virginia case law. AR at 132.

¹ The crash was significant and there was evidence produced below that bystanders thought some of the children were killed. Fortunately, no deaths occurred, but some of the children were seriously hurt.

The Petitioners thereafter timely filed a Notice of Appeal to this Court. In this appeal the Petitioners ask this Court to reverse the Circuit Court's ruling and remand this matter with a finding of coverage under Mr. Cox's policy.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioners first allege that the Circuit Court erred in its finding that Mr. Cox's vehicle did not meet the definition of a "motor vehicle" under his Erie policy. The Circuit Court's error arises from the fact that it erroneously applied the definition of a "motor vehicle" under the "GENERAL DEFINITIONS"/liability section of Erie's policy rather than the controlling definition of an "underinsured motor vehicle" contained within Erie's UIM endorsement. At all relevant times, the Petitioners presented a UIM claim for which a specific definition of an "underinsured motor vehicle" was contained within Erie's UIM endorsement. Erie created an ambiguous conflict within its own policy by pointing the Circuit Court to the "GENERAL DEFINITION" of a "motor vehicle" to assert an exclusion that does not apply to UIM claims. Had the Circuit Court correctly applied the controlling definition of an "underinsured motor vehicle" then the plain wording of Erie's policy would have triggered coverage.

The Circuit Court furthermore committed error when it misapplied <u>Boniey v. Kuchinski</u>, 223 W.Va. 486, 677 S.E.2d 922 (2009) in support of Erie's purported exclusionary language. The <u>Boniey</u> decision involved an ATV crash that occurred off-of public roads. Relevant policy language in that case excluded off road crashes. For reasons that are unclear, the Circuit Court did not acknowledge the critical distinction in this case, i.e. - a crash that occurred on public roads. It is undisputed that Erie's plainly worded policy language covers crashes that occur on public roads, regardless of the type of "underinsured motor vehicle" involved.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

The Petitioners believe oral argument will aid the Court in its decision-making process pursuant to Rule 18 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure. At the same time, Petitioners recognize the Court's discretion on this issue and leave the question of oral argument solely to the Court's judgment.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A circuit court's granting of summary judgment is subject to *de novo* review. Syl. Pt. 1, Painter v. Peavey, 192 W.Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994). Petitioners do not contend that the form of the Circuit Court's Order granting summary judgment was erroneous, or that summary judgment was otherwise erroneously applied in this case, such as due to factual disputes. Rather, Petitioners only allege that the Court erred in its application of the relevant insurance contract language along with a misapplication of existing law. Petitioners therefore contend that this Court may exercise its *de novo* standard of review in a plenary critique of the lower court's ruling.

II. ERIE'S ARGUMENT CREATED A POLICY AMBIGUITY AND THE CIRCUIT COURT THEREAFTER ERRED BY APPLYING THE WRONG POLICY DEFINITION OF AN UNDERINSURED MOTOR VEHICLE.

The Petitioners will describe the specific policy provisions at issue in more detail below. However, at the outset, the way in which Erie sought to exclude coverage created a policy ambiguity and conflict when none should have existed. It is well-settled law that any such conflict must be resolved in favor of coverage for the Petitioners' claims. "But where the policy's terms are found to be ambiguous, the ambiguities are strictly construed against the insurance company and all doubts are resolved in favor of coverage." Syl. Pt. 3, Murray v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 203 W.Va. 477, 509 S.E.2d 1 (1998). "It is well settled law in West Virginia that ambiguous

terms in insurance contracts are to be strictly construed against the insurance company and in favor of the insured." Syl. Pt. 4, Nat'l. Mut. Ins. Co. v. McMahon & Sons, Inc., 177 W.Va. 734, 356 S.E.2d 488 (1987). "When reasonable people can differ about the meaning of an insurance contract, the contract is ambiguous, and all ambiguities will be construed in favor of the insured." Syl. pt. 1, D'Annunzio v. Security-Connecticut Life Ins. Co., 186 W.Va. 39, 41 S.E.2d 275 (1991).

The relevant Erie policy is titled "Auto Insurance Policy West Virginia." AR at 51. The Table of Contents reads, in relevant part, "Where To Look In Your Policy" and contains a section titled "GENERAL POLICY DEFINITIONS." <u>Id</u>. The definition of a motor vehicle that was relied upon by Erie and the Circuit Court, reads, in relevant part, "any vehicle that is self-propelled and is required to be registered under the laws of the state in which "you" reside at the time the policy is issued." AR at 53 (emphasis in original). The policy then excludes the following types of vehicles from the definition of a "motor vehicle:"

... vehicles "1) propelled solely by human power; 2) propelled by electric power obtained from overhead wires; 3) operated on rails or crawler treads; 4) located for use as a residence or premises; or 5) which is a lawn and garden tractor or mower or similar vehicle...

AR at 53. The "GENERAL DEFINITION" of "motor vehicle" relied upon by Erie and erroneously applied by the Circuit Court therefore requires in-state registration, but does not excluding the type of vehicle, a UTV, that crashed into the Petitioners' children.

The Erie policy contained a separate (and what should have been controlling) section titled "UNINSURED/UNDERINSURED MOTORISTS COVERAGE ENDORSMENT – WEST VIRGINIA." AR at 70. That endorsement reads, in relevant part, "THIS ENDORSEMENT

² The person identified as "you" in this definition would have been Mr. Cox, the owner of the truck towing Petitioners' children in the parade. Mr. Cox was the named policyholder of the Erie policy at issue. It is undisputed that he maintained UIM coverage at the time of the crash at issue.

CHANGES THE POLICY. PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY." <u>Id</u>. The endorsement goes on to note:

This endorsement contains provisions applicable to Uninsured/Underinsured Motorists Bodily Injury and Property Damage Coverage and changes provisions in your policy to the extent that the provisions in this endorsement are different from those in your policy.

<u>Id</u>. (italics in original; bold added for emphasis). Under the "**DEFINITIONS**" heading the policy reads:

Words and phrases in bold type and quotations are used as defined in this endorsement. If a word or phrase in bold type and quotations is not defined in this endorsement, then the word or phrase is defined in the GENERAL POLICY DEFINITIONS section of the policy.

Id.

In other words, a plain reading of the UIM Endorsement makes clear that any "words and phrases" within that section governed Petitioners' UIM claims. Conversely, Petitioners' UIM claims were not governed by the "GENERAL DEFINITIONS" section of the Erie policy so long as a relevant policy definition existed within Erie's UIM Endorsement. In this case, an "underinsured motor vehicle" was expressly defined within the UIM Endorsement. That, by Erie's own policy wording, made the "GENERAL DEFINITION" of a "motor vehicle" inapplicable to the facts of this case. The Circuit Court erroneously ignored the qualifying language in Erie's UIM Endorsement, adopted Erie's argument and erroneously relied upon the policy's "GENERAL DEFINITIONS."

The Erie policy defines an "underinsured motor vehicle" as "a 'motor vehicle' for which the limits of available liability bonds or insurance or self-insurance at the time of the accident are insufficient to pay losses and damages." AR at 70. Importantly for this case, the Erie UIM Endorsement then lists the following exclusion from its definition of an underinsured motor vehicle:

"... 3) 'motor vehicles' designed for use mainly off public roads while not on public roads..."

AR at 71. In other words, even if Mr. Kidd's UTV was arguably designed for use mainly off public roads, it is undisputed that this crash occurred on public roads. Mr. Kidd's UTV was therefore defined as an "underinsured motor vehicle" for which no other controlling exclusion applied.³

It is undisputed that the definition of an "underinsured motor vehicle" is contained solely within Erie's UIM Endorsement. No such "words or phrases" regarding "underinsured motor vehicles" exist in the "GENERAL DEFINITIONS" section of Erie's policy. Therefore, by the plain terms of the UIM Endorsement, neither Erie nor the Circuit Court should have looked to the definition of a "motor vehicle" within the "GENERAL POLICY DEFINITIONS" section of Erie's policy. However, that is exactly what Erie argued and what the Circuit Court did. The Circuit Court's error arose despite the clear conflict that exists between the inapplicable "GENERAL DEFINITION" of a "motor vehicle" and the UIM Endorsement's controlling definition of an "underinsured motor vehicle."

As this Court will see from the June 12, 2023 hearing transcript related to Erie's Motion for Summary Judgment, the Circuit Court immediately zeroed in on the wrong definition in its coverage analysis. The Circuit Court first asked, "So we've got one real legal issue here. And that legal issue is whether or not this vehicle – this Kidd Rhino meets the definition of a motor

³ Mr. Kidd's UTV was a vehicle that could be made street legal under W.Va. Code Section 17A-13-1. Ultimately, however, it does not matter whether his UTV was designed mainly for use off-of or on public roads. This is because the relevant Erie policy language only excludes an off-road vehicle from the definition of an underinsured motor vehicle when a crash occurs off-of public roads. Again, it is undisputed that this crash occurred on public roads. This is a critical distinction when the Petitioners later discuss the Circuit Court's erroneous reliance upon <u>Boniey</u>.

vehicle such that it's going to trigger UIM coverage under the Erie policy; correct?" Erie's counsel responded in the affirmative. AR at 116,117 (Transcript pages 3, 4).

However, the Circuit Court's opening question foretold its eventual error, when it asked if the "Kidd Rhino" met the definition of a "motor vehicle." As noted earlier, a "motor vehicle" is defined within the "GENERAL DEFINITIONS" section of Erie's policy. The Circuit Court's question should have been whether the "Kidd Rhino" met the definition of an "underinsured motor vehicle." An "underinsured motor vehicle" is defined in only one place: Erie's UIM Endorsement.

The Circuit Court then went on to stress the importance of the "GENERAL DEFINITION" of a "motor vehicle" when it concluded that the "Kidd Rhino" was not required to be registered in the State of West Virginia.⁴ AR at 120. As they had in their Response in Opposition to Erie's Motion for Summary Judgment, Petitioners argued at hearing that the controlling definition was contained solely within Erie's UIM Endorsement. AR at 121, 124, 125, 126. Moreover, Petitioners noted that the registration requirement contained within the "GENERAL DEFINITIONS" section of Erie's policy could only rationally apply to liability coverage but never to an "underinsured motor vehicle."

Based upon the Circuit Court's rationale, Erie's "GENERAL DEFINITION" of a "motor vehicle" would exclude from coverage any out-of-state uninsured or underinsured motor vehicle that was not required to be registered in West Virginia. The in-state registration requirement in the "GENERAL DEFINITION" of a "motor vehicle" was airtight proof that the Petitioners' position was correct. Conversely, the in-state registration requirement conclusively proved that Erie's position was fatally flawed.

Page 12 of 20

⁴ As Petitioners pointed out in their Response Brief below, the "Kidd Rhino" could have been registered and qualified as a street legal "motor vehicle." AR at 95. That issue is ultimately unimportant for this Court's decision. Petitioners only point it out here to the extent that this Court questions what type of vehicle the "Kidd Rhino" was and whether it was one that was anticipated to operate on this State's roadways. It was.

However, the Circuit Court surprisingly referred to the in-state registration requirement as a "red herring." AR at 126. The Circuit Court made this finding since Mr. Kidd, the tortfeasor, was a West Virginia resident. Petitioners respectfully contend that Mr. Kidd's residency was irrelevant and should not have been considered by the Circuit Court in any way, shape or form. This is because the tortfeasor's vehicle could have been a regular "motor vehicle" from anywhere, say, a Toyota Camry from Ohio. There would have been no in-state registration requirement if the owner of that Toyota Camry was an Ohio resident.

Under the Circuit Court's erroneous analysis, the otherwise properly licensed and registered Toyota Camry from Ohio would not qualify as a "motor vehicle" under the Erie policy definitions. This can only mean that the in-state registration requirement in Erie's "GENERAL DEFINITION" of a "motor vehicle" applied to Mr. Cox's personal liability coverage, but not to Mr. Kidd's status as an underinsured driver. As this Court will see, the Circuit Court relied heavily upon the in-state registration requirement in its Order granting summary judgment. AR at 120, 125, 127, 128, 129. This means the Circuit Court's findings and conclusions would exclude every out-of-state driver of an uninsured or underinsured motor vehicle who injures a West Virginia resident covered by a policy of Erie Insurance. This Court's affirmance of the Circuit Court's erroneous Order would do the same, on a statewide scale.

Erie's in-state registration requirement could only rationally apply as an underwriting precursor to liability coverage for Mr. Cox's vehicle. It makes sense that Erie required Mr. Cox's vehicle to be registered in the State of West Virginia in conjunction with its West Virginia issued policy. However, the in-state registration requirement the Circuit Court relied upon should never have been applied to a third-party tortfeasor's vehicle after an otherwise valid UM or UIM claim. A third-party tortfeasor could be driving a vehicle registered in a different state or even a different

country. Pursuant to Erie's rationale, no out-of-state vehicle would ever qualify as a "motor vehicle" under its policy and its UM/UIM coverage would never apply to any vehicle that was not registered in West Virginia. That is, quite simply, a legally absurd result.

The only proper definition of a "motor vehicle" that should apply in this case is that of an "underinsured motor vehicle" contained within Erie's controlling UIM Endorsement. That Endorsement was erroneously disregarded by the Circuit Court in favor of the liability "GENERAL DEFINITION" of "motor vehicle." The plain wording of Erie's policy proves that the Circuit Court should have only looked to the UIM Endorsement for the controlling definitional language.

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