IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Case No. 23-ICA-338

ICA EFiled: Dec 07 2023 09:26AM EST Transaction ID 71565947

AMY REYNOLDS, as Next Friend, and Legal Guardian of M.R., a minor, SHAUN and JENNIFER LOPEZ, individually, and as Next Friends and Legal Guardians of S.L., G.L., and J.L., minors, and KEITH and MELISSA CHAPMAN, individually, and as Next Friends and Legal Guardians of H.C., a minor,

Plaintiffs Below, Petitioners,

v.

ERIE INSURANCE and HORACE MANN INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendants Below, Respondents.

From the Circuit Court of Kanawha County, West Virginia
The Honorable Joanna Tabit
Civil Action No. 21-C-827

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This appeal centers on the primary question of whether a policy of insurance issued by Erie to its insured, Greg Cox, extends underinsured motorists coverage for an accident involving a vehicle that was not subject to registration under West Virginia law. By its terms, the Erie Policy in this case requires that bodily injury or property damage be caused by the owner or operator of an "underinsured motor vehicle". The Erie Policy's definition of "underinsured motor vehicle" incorporates within its definition the requirement that the "underinsured motor vehicle" be a "motor vehicle" as defined by the Erie Policy. However, in accordance with the terms of the Erie Policy, a "motor vehicle" does not include a vehicle that is not subject to registration under the laws of the state where the insured resides, in this case West Virginia.

The undisputed facts in this case establish that Petitioners' claims for underinsured motorist coverage arise from an accident caused by an all-terrain vehicle (ATV) not subject to registration under the laws of West Virginia. Applying the Erie Policy as written, the Circuit Court correctly concluded that the Erie Policy's underinsured motorist coverage provisions were not triggered because the ATV did not meet the definition of "motor vehicle" and thereby did not qualify as an "underinsured motor vehicle".

By way of this appeal, the Petitioners are left to argue that the Circuit Court erred because it should have disregarded the definition of "motor vehicle" in determining whether the ATV qualified as an "underinsured motor vehicle". This argument ignores the plain language of the Erie Policy and the fact that the defined term "motor vehicle" is expressly incorporated within the definition of "underinsured motor vehicle". In other words, unless the vehicle at issue constitutes a "motor vehicle" as defined by the Erie Policy, it cannot under any circumstance constitute an "underinsured motor vehicle". There is no ambiguity in the requirement that a vehicle meet the

definition of "motor vehicle" in order to qualify as an "underinsured motor vehicle" and Petitioners' appeal fails on that basis alone.

Petitioners separately argue that the Erie Policy's definition of "motor vehicle" is overly restrictive because it does not apply to vehicles that are principally garaged in other states. In accordance with the terms of the Erie Policy, whether a vehicle qualifies as a "motor vehicle" is based on whether that vehicle would be subject to registration in the state where the insured resides at the time the policy is issued. Petitioners' argument on this point fails to realize that the registration requirement for a "motor vehicle" under the Erie Policy is designed to identify the types and classes of vehicles that are subject to West Virginia's registration requirements regardless of where the vehicle is principally garaged. In other words, whether a vehicle qualifies as a "motor vehicle" is dependent on whether that vehicle would be subject to registration requirements under West Virginia law. The clear intent of this requirement is to define the vehicles that would be subject to the minimum financial responsibility requirements of W. Va. Code § 17D-4-2 and the corresponding insurance requirements of W. Va. Code § 33-6-31. To that end, the Erie Policy's registration requirement in its definition of "motor vehicle" is designed to mirror the insurance requirements under West Virginia law, because insurance requirements under W. Va. Code § 33-6-31 do not extend to vehicles that are not subject to registration.

In the context of uninsured motorist coverage, which is subject to a much more restrictive public policy regiment in West Virginia than underinsured motorist coverage, the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals has previously held that a provision in an insurance policy excluding an off-road all-terrain vehicle from uninsured motorist coverage does not violate the intent and purpose of the uninsured motorist provisions of W. Va. Code § 33-6-31(b). *See* Syl. Pt. 8, *Boniey v. Kuchinski*, 223 W. Va. 486, 677 S.E.2d 922 (2009), *modified by Erie Insurance Company v.*

Dolly, 240 W. Va. 345, 811 S.E.2d 875 (2018). This holding was premised on the finding that a motor vehicle not required to be registered and licensed under West Virginia law is not subject to West Virginia's Motor Vehicle Safety Responsibility Law. *Id.*, Syl. Pt. 7.

In accordance with W. Va. Code § 33-6-31(k), the West Virginia Legislature recognized an insurer's ability to incorporate terms, conditions and exclusions as may be consistent with the premium charged. In interpreting this statutory provision, the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals has acknowledged that the Legislature does not view required uninsured motorist coverage the same as optional underinsured motorist coverage, and thereby recognized that the more stringent public policy surrounding uninsured motorists coverage emanates from its mandatory nature and public policy concerns involving an insurer's restriction of that coverage. See Deel v. Sweeney, 181 W. Va. 460, 463, 383 S.E.2d 92, 95 (1989). The fact that West Virginia has not extended the more restrictive public policy governing uninsured motorists coverage to vehicles that are not subject to registration requirements firmly establishes that West Virginia would not impose that type of extension to underinsured motorists coverage. As the Circuit Court recognized in this case, West Virginia precedent established that there were no public policy concerns with the Erie Policy's limitation of what constitutes a "motor vehicle" and correctly applied the plain and unambiguous definitions in the Erie Policy to conclude that underinsured motorists coverage was not available to the Petitioners in this case.

For these reasons, Erie Insurance Property & Casualty Company respectfully requests that this Court affirm the decision of the Circuit Court of Kanawha County, finding that underinsured motorists coverage does not extend to vehicles that are not subject to registration under West Virginia law.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

In accordance with Rule 18 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, Erie believes that oral argument is unnecessary because the dispositive issues have been authoritatively decided and the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and record on appeal. However, to the extent that the Court requests oral argument, Erie believes that this appeal is appropriate for argument in accordance with Rule 19 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, as this case involves assignments of error in the application of settled law.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

A circuit court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed *de novo*. Syl. Pt. 1, *Painter v. Peavey*, 192 W. Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994). In conducting its *de novo* review, the Court applies the same standard for granting summary judgment that is applied by the circuit court. *Merrill v. West Virginia Dept. of Health and Human Resources*, 219 W. Va. 151, 632 S.E.2d 307 (2006). Under that standard, summary judgment is appropriate "where the record taken as a whole could not lead a rational trier of fact to find for the nonmoving party, such as where the nonmoving party has failed to make a sufficient showing on an essential element of the case that it has the burden to prove." Syl. Pt. 4, *Painter*, 192 W. Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755. For purposes of this appeal, the, "determination of the proper coverage of an insurance contract when the facts are not in dispute is a question of law." Syl. Pt. 1, *Tennant v. Smallwood*, 211 W. Va. 703, 568 S.E.2d 10 (2002).

II. The Circuit Court Correctly Applied The Policy Language

The Petitioners cite as their first Assignment of Error that the Erie Policy at issue created a policy ambiguity by requiring the Circuit Court to look to the definition of "motor vehicle" under the general definitions portion of the policy "rather than solely applying the controlling definition of an 'underinsured motor vehicle' contained within the Underinsured Motorist ("UIM") Endorsement." *Petitioner's Brief*, page 4. In making this assertion, the Petitioners ignore that the Erie Policy's definition of "underinsured motor vehicle" expressly requires that the vehicle first meet the Erie Policy's general definition of "motor vehicle". That fact is fatal to Petitioner's argument that the Circuit Court erred by applying the definition of "motor vehicle" in finding that the Kidd ATV does not qualify as an "underinsured motor vehicle" as defined by the Erie Policy.

Language in an insurance policy should be given its plain, ordinary meaning. Syl. Pt. 1, *Soliva v. Shand, Morahan & Co.*, 176 W. Va. 430, 345 S.E.2d 33 (1986). Where the provisions of an insurance policy are clear and unambiguous, they are not subject to judicial construction or interpretation, but full effect will be given to the plain meaning intended. Syl. Pt. 1, *Christopher v. United States Life Ins.*, 145 W. Va. 707, 116 S.E.2d 864 (1960). The contract should be read as a whole with all policy provisions given effect. *Soliva*, 176 W. Va. at 432 (citing 2 Couch on Insurance 2d § 15:29). If the policy as a whole is unambiguous, then the insured will not be allowed to create an ambiguity out of sections taken out of context. *Id*.

At the heart of this appeal is Erie's Uninsured/Underinsured Motorists Coverage Endorsement – West Virginia. (JA 70-73). This endorsement to the Erie Policy sets forth the terms and conditions for the extension of both uninsured and underinsured motorists coverage. The insuring provision contained in the endorsement provides as follows:

THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY. PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY.

UNINSURED/UNDERINSURED MOTORISTS COVERAGE ENDORSEMENT – WEST VIRGINIA

This endorsement contains provisions applicable to Uninsured/Underinsured Motorists Bodily Injury and Property Damage Coverage and changes provisions contained in your policy to the extent that the provisions in this endorsement are different from those in your policy.

OUR PROMISE

"We" will pay damages for bodily injury and property damage that the law entitles "anyone we protect" or the legal representative of "anyone we protect" to recover from the owner or operator of an "uninsured motor vehicle." If Underinsured Motorists Coverage is indicated on the "Declarations," "we" will pay damages for bodily injury and property damage that the law entitles "anyone we protect" or the legal representative of "anyone we protect" from the owner or operator of an "underinsured motor vehicle."

Damages must result from a motor vehicle accident arising out of the ownership or use of the "uninsured motor vehicle" or "underinsured motor vehicle" as a motor vehicle and involve:

- bodily injury to "anyone we protect." Bodily injury means physical harm, sickness, disease or resultant death to a person; or
- 2. property damage, meaning destruction of or injury to:
 - a. an "owned auto we insure" and property owned by "anyone we protect" while contained in such "auto;"
 - b. property owned by "you" or a "relative" while contained in any "auto we insure" under this coverage; and
 - c. any other property, except a "motor vehicle," owned by "anyone we protect" and located in West Virginia.

If loss results in an Uninsured or Underinsured Motorists Property Damage claim, "we" will pay "you" the greater of the fair market rental value of a like kind replacement vehicle or the amount to which you are entitled under Transportation Expenses Coverage, if purchased.

"We" will not be bound by a judgment against the owner or operator of the "uninsured motor vehicle" or "underinsured motor vehicle" on issues of liability or amount of damages unless it is obtained with "our" written consent.

(JA 71).

By its terms, the insuring provision for underinsured motorists coverage extends that coverage to "anyone we protect" for bodily injury or property damage that "anyone we protect" is entitled to recover from the owner or operator of an "underinsured motor vehicle". 2 *Id*. The Erie Policy further provides that damages must result from a motor vehicle accident arising out of the ownership or use of the "underinsured motor vehicle". *Id*. A necessary and express component of this insuring

² Erie does not dispute that the minor Petitioners in this appeal would qualify as "anyone we protect" under the terms of the UM/UIM Endorsement because they were occupying an owned auto insured by the Erie Policy. (JA 70).

provision is the requirement that the recovery be from the owner or operator of an "underinsured motor vehicle".

"Underinsured motor vehicle" is a defined term in the Erie UM/UIM Endorsement. Specifically, the Erie Policy provides the following definition of "underinsured motor vehicle" in the Endorsement:

DEFINITIONS

Words and phrases in bold type and quotations are used as defined in this endorsement. If a word or phrase in bold type and quotations is not defined in this endorsement, then the word or phrase is defined in the GENERAL POLICY DEFINITIONS section of the policy.

"Underinsured motor vehicle" means a "motor vehicle" for which the limits of available liability bonds or insurance or self-insurance at the time of the accident are insufficient to pay losses and damages.

"Underinsured motor vehicle" does not include:

- 1. "**motor vehicles**" insured for Liability Protection under this policy;
- 2. "motor vehicles" owned or leased by any governmental unit or agency;
- 3. "motor vehicles" designed for use mainly off public roads while not on public roads; or
- 4. "motor vehicles" owned, leased or rented by, furnished to or available for the use of "you" or a "relative."

(JA 70-71).

As noted in the opening paragraph providing definitions within the endorsement, "Words and phrases in bold type and quotations are used as defined in this endorsement." (JA 70). Both "underinsured motor vehicle" and "motor vehicle", which is within the definition of "underinsured motor vehicle" are defined terms. Critically, this section further provides that, "[i]f a word or

phrase in bold type and quotations is not defined in this endorsement, then the word or phrase is defined in the GENERAL POLICY DEFINITIONS section of the policy." *Id.* "Motor vehicle" is not defined in the endorsement and is therefore defined through the GENERAL POLICY DEFINITIONS section of the Erie Policy.

By its express terms, an "underinsured motor vehicle" must meet the separately defined term of a "motor vehicle". If the vehicle involved does not meet the definition of "motor vehicle", then the vehicle cannot meet the definition of "underinsured motor vehicle". The Erie Policy defines "motor vehicle" in the GENERAL POLICY DEFINITIONS as follows:

GENERAL POLICY DEFINITIONS

Throughout this policy and its endorsements, the following words and phrases have a special meaning when they appear in bold type and quotations.

- "Motor vehicle" means any vehicle that is self-propelled and is required to be registered under the laws of the state in which "you" reside at the time this policy is issued. "Motor vehicle" does not include a vehicle:
 - 1. propelled solely by human power;
 - 2. propelled by electric power obtained from overhead wires:
 - 3. operated on rails or crawler treads;
 - 4. located for use as a residence or premises; or
 - 5. which is a lawn and garden tractor or mower or similar vehicle.

(JA 52-53).

There are two requirements for a vehicle to qualify as a "motor vehicle" under the Erie Policy. First, the vehicle must be self-propelled. Second, the vehicle must be subject to registration requirements in the state where the insured resides at the time the policy was issued. While Erie

would not dispute that the Kidd ATV in this case was self-propelled, it is not subject to registration requirements under West Virginia law. On that basis, the Kidd ATV cannot qualify as a "motor vehicle". Because the Kidd ATV is not a "motor vehicle", it cannot qualify as an "underinsured motor vehicle" since a vehicle must first be a "motor vehicle" before it can be an "underinsured motor vehicle". Because the Kidd ATV is not an "underinsured motor vehicle", the insuring provision in the UM/UIM Endorsement of the Erie Policy is not triggered. It is for that reason that Petitioners are not entitled to underinsured motorist coverage.

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